ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Lexington County

Howard P. King, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

OCT 23 2013

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DOUGLAS J. MAYES,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-213144

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in admitting the drugs, crack cocaine and cocaine, and the chemist's report into evidence when the drugs, after testing, changed form from solid into liquid because they were not stored in a climate controlled storage, and thus the state could not provide the evidence that was seized?
2. Did the trial court err in admitting the drug scales and baggies into evidence when they were missing for two weeks and thus there was no clear chain of custody?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August 2011, the Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Douglas James Mayes on the charges of trafficking crack cocaine more than twenty –eight grams but less than one hundred grams; possession with intent to distribute cocaine (powder); and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (PWID). On October 1-2, 2012, Mayes proceeded to trial before the Honorable Howard P. King and jury. Mayes was represented by Wayne Floyd, and the state was represented by Michael Ross. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on the trafficking charge; guilty of the lesser offense of simple possession of cocaine; and not guilty on the possession of a weapon charge. Judge King sentenced Mayes to twenty-five years on the trafficking crack cocaine, and ten years on the possession of cocaine. R. 210, ll. 14 – R. 211, ll. 2. Mayes' attorney filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Deputy Eric Kirkland, lead investigator in the case, testified pretrial that he received an anonymous complaint of drug activity at a location in the Pelion area of Lexington County. He was told that a black male named Dougie lived there along with a white female and child. R. 9, ll. 15 – R. 10, ll. 23; R. 73, ll. 3 – 11. Deputy Kirkland arranged a controlled drug purchase using a confidential informant (CI) with the CI and Mayes on January 31, 2011. The CI identified Mayes from a photo lineup. R. 11, ll. 19 – R. 14, ll. 23.

A second controlled drug buy occurred on February 9, 2011. Deputy Kirkland then obtained a search warrant for Mayes' address. R. 15, ll. 9 – R. 23, ll. 25. Deputy Kirkland and a seven man team executed the search warrant on Mayes residence on February 17, 2011. R. 73, ll. 3 – R. 75, ll. 16. In the master bathroom hidden among rolls of toilet paper were found three bags of what appeared to be crack cocaine, a pill bottle with crack cocaine, and a bag of what appeared to be powder cocaine. R. 50, ll. 3 – R.58, ll. 24.

In the kitchen was found a set of digital scales and a Pyrex dish, and plastic baggies. R. 62, ll. 11 – R. 66, ll. 25; R. 68, ll. 11 – 23.

Deputy Kirkland arrested Mayes in the living room where he and the female were handcuffed. He Mirandized Mayes and explained they were there executing a search warrant for narcotics. When Deputy Kirkland asked Mayes if he knew anything about what was back there, Mayes replied: "It's mine. Everything back there is mine." R. 76, ll. 1 – R. 78, ll. 24. After a Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964) hearing, the judge determined the statement was voluntary. R. 70, ll. 1 – R. 72, ll. 17.

The chemist from the Sheriff's Department, Emily Homer, tested the drugs and found: Item 1.1 was 64.06 grams of cocaine base crack; Item 1.2 was 1.89 grams cocaine

base crack; Item 1.3 was cocaine 2.96 grams; and Item 1.4 was 4.29 grams cocaine base crack and item 1.5 was .14 grams cocaine base crack. R. 108, ll. 1 – 24; R. 110, ll. 19 – R.112, ll. 24. Ms. Homer testified that all of the drugs were in solid form with no liquid. R. 112, ll. 25 – R. 113, ll. 7.

The evidence custodian, Candy Kyzer, received the drugs in the Best Kit from the deputy. She put the sealed kit with the drugs in the drug lab temp box. She held them there until the chemist wanted them. The chemist returned them to her after testing. R. 84, ll. 14 – R. 86, ll.25. She signed these drugs out to the chemist, Ms. Homer, on February 22, 2011. The chemist returned them to the evidence room March 29, 2011. The drugs were then placed in a regular drug box “that we put miscellaneous drug cases in.” R. 87, ll. 1 – R. 89, ll. 5.

Deputy Kirkland signed the drugs out on September 6, 2011 for a meeting with the solicitor in preparing for court. He returned them two hours later. R. 89, ll. 6 – 21.

The drugs were signed out again on May 15, 2012 to the chemist, Ms. Homer because when the solicitor came to view the evidence, the solicitor noticed liquid in the Best Kit. The drugs were returned to the chemist at that point. The chemist returned them to another evidence custodian, Beth Harmon. R. 89, ll. 22 – R. 90, ll.

Beth Harmon received the drugs in the Best kit from the chemist on July 31, 2012. She admitted that she did misfile the drugs then. A few days later on August 3, 2012, she was placing other items into the multi-case boxes in the drug room, and noticed this one was misfiled. When she took it out, it leaked on her. The seal had a crease in it which allowed the liquid to seep out. She called her supervisor and they heat sealed the drugs into a K-pack bag. R. 101, ll. 1 – R. 107, ll. 15.

Ms. Homer, the chemist, testified that when she returned the drugs to the evidence room, they were in the same condition as they were when she received them. R. 118, ll. 15 – 25. When she was called by the evidence custodian and solicitor to view the drugs, they were partially liquefied. R. 120, ll. 19 – 25. It was her opinion that drugs did not withstand heat very well because they are organic substances. The more impure the substance was the lower the point at which it will melt. She said the evidence room was not climate controlled and the drugs went through other people in the solicitor's office. Crack cocaine would be impure from the amount of adulterants added to it such as lidocaine, benzocaine, and baking soda. The change in form did not affect her report and conclusion. R. 120, ll. 25 – R. 123, ll. 21.

Defense counsel objected to the drugs being admitted into evidence because the drugs were not in the same form as they were when they came into the custody of the Sheriff's Office. Counsel argued that they were altered. R. 119, ll. 2 – R. 120, ll. 12. Counsel argued that the chemist report should not come into evidence unless the drugs were admitted. Counsel argued that the drugs must come into evidence to make the case. He said the drugs were not admissible because they had changed form, and that the Sheriff's Department was responsible for taking care of the evidence. He said it was pure speculation that the drugs melted from the heat. Everyone in the chain had to say the drugs were in the same form. He argued that the chemist said that she did not test for adulterants. R. 129, ll. 22 – R. 137, ll. 19.

The judge admitted the drugs because he ruled there was a spontaneous chemical change with no wrong doing on anyone's part. R. 137, ll. 20 – 140, ll. 2.

During her testimony, Candy Kyzer, said that she received the digital scales and baggies in the evidence room on February 17, 2011. She put them in a banker's box where they put miscellaneous items instead of taking up shelf space with just small items. Deputy Kirkland checked these items out also on September 6, 2011 to take to the solicitor's office for trial preparation. He returned them the same day. They were marked for evidence. R. 84, ll. 14 – 24; R. 91, ll. 8 – R. 93, ll. 24.

Ms. Kyzer admitted that in October 2011, she was asked to bring the scales and baggies to court as the case was going to trial. She could not find these items. They were located about two weeks later in the evidence room. They were returned to the correct box. R. 93, ll. 25 – R. 96, ll. 24.

Defense counsel objected when the items were offered into evidence on the basis that chain of custody had not been properly established. No one could say where the items were during those two weeks. The judge ruled that there was no evidence the items ever left the evidence room. He ruled they were non-fungible so there was not the issue of the identity. The judge admitted the scales and baggies into evidence. R. 97, ll.1 – R. 99, ll. 1.

Defense counsel argued for a directed verdict motion at the close of the state's case which the judge denied. R. 141, ll. 20 – 146, ll. 8. Counsel then argued for the suppression of the scales and baggies based on the lack of a chain of custody, and for the suppression of the drugs because they were different than they were when seized. The judge denied his motion. R. 146, ll. 4 – R. 150, ll. 19.

In a pretrial hearing, defense counsel told the court that the case was called for trial in October 2011. However, after pretrial motions, the solicitor told defense counsel the case

would have to be continued because evidence was missing. R. 35, ll. 1 – R. 36, ll. 25.

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in admitting the drugs, crack cocaine and cocaine, and the chemist's report into evidence when the drugs, after testing, changed form from solid into liquid because they were not stored in a climate controlled storage, and thus the state could not provide the evidence as it was seized.

The state argued that the issue was evidence preservation, and cited the cases of State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 326, 552 S.E.2d 300 (2001) and State v. Bland, 399 S.C. 220, 730 S.E.2d 909 (Ct. App. 2012) . However, both cases are distinguished from Mayes' case.

In State v. Cheeseboro, *supra*, the Supreme Court held that the destruction of the murder weapon used in the murder of a barber and his customer on March 14, 1996, before the defense team could examine it, did not require suppression of testimony about the weapon or dismissal of the indictments where there was no bad faith in the destruction of the gun, as the bullets and documentation of the comparison of the bullets was still available to the defense, and the defendant was not prejudiced because the gun was incriminating rather than exculpatory. The gun was destroyed by the police department after testing because it was not marked as being involved in the barbershop murders but was rather marked as unclaimed property.

Mayes' case is distinguished because the drugs were the only evidence against him. There was other evidence against Cheeseboro including an eyewitness. Although the chemist had completed her report, there was no evidence she examined the drugs in liquid form. In Cheeseboro, the bullets and comparison were still available for the defense to examine. In Mayes, the drugs were not available for him to have an independent evaluation done. This was prejudicial to Mayes.

In State v. Bland, 399 S.C. 220, 730 S.E.2d 909 (Ct. App. 2012), the Court of Appeals held that the photo lineup shown to the witness in this attempted armed robbery and attempted burglary

which may have included a photo of the defendant, and the disappeared from the case file was not a violation of Bland's due process rights because it did not have an exculpatory value where the witness could not positively identify the defendant using the lineup.

Mayes' case is distinguished in that again, there was other evidence against Bland. There were two eyewitnesses in Bland's case, and it concerned a photo lineup.

In State v. Cheeseboro, *supra*, the Supreme Court held that the state does not have an absolute duty to preserve potentially useful evidence that might exonerate a defendant. To establish a due process violation, a defendant must demonstrate (1) that the state destroyed the evidence in bad faith (10 that the evidence possessed an exculpatory value apparent before the evidence was destroyed, **and** the defendant cannot obtain other evidence of comparable value by other means.

In State v. Bailey, 677 N.W.2d 380 (2004), the Supreme Court of Minnesota held that the admission of the DNA evidence was not a violation of the defendant's due process right. However, Justice Russell A. Anderson concurred in part and dissented in part. In his dissent, Justice Anderson wrote due process concerns are implicated when data relied upon by a laboratory in performing tests are not available to the opposing party for review and cross examination. He cited the Federal Bureau of Investigation's Quality Assurance Standards for Forensic DNA Testing Laboratories that require procedures to ensure the integrity of the physical evidence. The FBI standards required laboratories that do DNA testing to follow documented procedures that minimize loss, contamination, and/or deleterious change of evidence.

In Justice Meyer's dissent in Bailey, he concluded that the admission into evidence of the DNA evidence violated Bailey's right to due process because Bailey was not allowed to examine the genetic primer sequences applied in the Profiled kit that was used by the state; the DNA sample was so degraded that only a partial profile could be obtained; the sample was not large enough to

allow testing of additional loci; the sample was destroyed by the state's testing so no part was available for independent testing by Bailey's experts, and Bailey was not given notice of the destructive testing.

The trial court erred in allowing the drugs and the accompanying report into evidence. The state has the responsibility to preserve evidence to be used against Mayes, especially when it is the only evidence against him. In Mayes' case, the drugs as seized by the state and as found in his residence were not the same as that presented at trial. Mayes was denied the opportunity to have independent testing if he chose to do so. It was not the same evidence as listed in the warrant and indictment. The state needed to have the drugs in climate controlled storage. The chemist knew the drugs could change form as she testified this had happened another time. She told those in charge that there should be climate control in the evidence room but it was after this incident. R.128, ll. 1 – 22.

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in admitting the drug scales and baggies into evidence when they were missing for two weeks and thus there was no clear chain of custody.

In State v. Sweet, 374 S.C. 1, 4-5, 647 S.E.2d 202, 204, (2007), the Supreme Court ruled that a trial court's decision to admit evidence will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.

State v. Glenn, 328 S.C. 300, 492 S.E.2d 393, 395 (1997), succinctly summarizes the chain of-custody law:

Because fungible items such as drugs or blood samples are not readily identifiable and may be easily tampered with, the party offering such items into evidence must establish a chain-of-custody as far as practicable. [Citations omitted.] Where the analyzed substance is passed through several hands, the evidence must not leave it to conjecture as to had it and what was done with it between the taking an analysis. However, the proof of chain-of-custody need not negate all possibility of tampering, but instead must only establish a complete chain of evidence as far as practicable. [Citations omitted.]

While the chain of custody requirement is strict where fungible evidence is involved, where the issue is the admissibility of non-fungible evidence – that is evidence that is unique and identifiable – the establishment of a strict chain of custody is not required ... [i]f the offered item possesses characteristics which are fairly unique and readily identifiable, and if the substance of which the item is composed is relatively impervious to change, the trial court is viewed as having broad discretion to admit nearly on the basis of testimony that the item is the one in question and is in a substantially unchanged condition. On the other hand, if the offered evidence is of such a nature as not to be readily identifiable, or to be susceptible to alteration by tampering or contamination, the sound exercise of the trial court's discretion may require a substantially more elaborate foundation. A foundation of the latter sort will commonly entail testimony tracing the "chain-of-custody" of the item with sufficient completeness to render it reasonably probable

that the original item has neither been exchanged with another nor been contaminated or tampered with. [Citations and quotation marks omitted.]