RECEIVED

OCT 31 2013

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
The Honorable Howard P. King, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No: 2012-213144

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DOUGLAS J. MAYES,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No: 79818

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENTS

I.

The trial court properly admitted the drugs and the chemist's report into evidence because although the drugs had changed from solid to liquid form while in storage, the testing and chemist's report were done prior to the change in form.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in admitting the drugs and the chemist's report into evidence when the drugs changed form from solid into liquid such that the State could not provide the evidence as it was seized. Contrary to Appellant's argument, the fact that the drugs had changed from solid to liquid form prior to trial did not prevent the State from making the drug evidence available. The State provided testimony from the officers who found the drugs, the evidence custodian who stored the drugs, and the chemist who tested the drugs as well as the chemist's report. Whether the drugs were in the same form at the time of trial did not affect their admissibility and the trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress.

"The admission of evidence is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge." State v. Taylor, 360 S.C. 18, 23, 598 S.E.2d 735, 737 (2004). "On appeal, the question presented is whether the trial court's decision is controlled by an error of law or is without evidentiary support." Id. "If there is any evidence to support the trial judge's decision, the appellate courts will affirm it." Id. Any defects in the chain of custody would only go to the weight or credibility of the evidence, not to its admissibility. State v. Wells, 336 S.C. 223, 230, 426 S.E.2d 814, 817 (Ct. App. 1992) overruled on other grounds by Burgess v. State, 329 S.C. 88, 495 S.E.2d 445 (1998).

A party offering into evidence fungible items such as drugs must establish a chain of custody as far as practicable. State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753

(2011). “Where the substance analyzed has passed through several hands the evidence must not leave it to conjecture as to who had it and what was done with it between the taking and the analysis.” Id. (citation omitted) (emphasis added). While the proof of chain of custody need not negate all possibility of tampering, it must establish a complete chain of evidence as far as practicable. Id. “The ultimate goal of chain of custody requirements is simply to ensure that the item is what it is purported to be.” Id. at 95, 708 S.E.2d at 755. In Hatcher, the Supreme Court found “[t]he record here indicates the drugs received for testing were in fact, those taken from Hatcher without any alteration, tampering, or substitution.” Id.

In State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 552 S.E.2d 300 (2001), our Supreme Court found no error when the trial judge denied the appellant’s motion to suppress the murder weapon and any testimony regarding it because the gun had been destroyed by the police. The police destroyed it following normal procedures for unclaimed weapons because nothing on the gun indicated it was related to Cheeseboro’s case. Id. at 537-38, 552 S.E.2d at 306-07. The Supreme Court found Cheeseboro failed to demonstrate any evidence of bad faith, specifically stating, “While there is evidence of a lack of care, there is no evidence of an intentional destruction of relevant evidence in this case.” Id. at 539, 552 S.E.2d at 307.

Here, Appellant also did not provide evidence of bad faith. The only evidence ever presented to explain why the drugs had changed from solid to liquid form was that the lack of air conditioning in the evidence room had caused the drugs to melt. (R. p.100, lines 2-3; R. p.117, lines 15-17.) While this could possibly be described as a lack of care (although the officers and evidence custodians at the sheriff’s department likely have little control over building improvements), it certainly does not rise to the level of bad

faith. Furthermore, the focus for chain of custody is the time between the taking and the analysis. Hatcher, 392 S.C. at 91, 708 S.E.2d at 753. What happens after analysis is of no moment. Witnesses were able to identify the drugs and explain the condition they were in. Ultimately, the fact that the drugs changed form after they had been tested does not affect the results of the testing Homer conducted on the drugs.

Additionally, Appellant argues he suffered prejudice from the drugs melting because he was unable to have an independent evaluation done. However, the drugs were not discovered to have melted until May of 2012. Appellant's case had been called for trial in October of 2011 and was continued because of the misplaced scales and baggies. Notably, Appellant did not request the drugs so that he could have an independent evaluation done in preparation for the original October 2011 trial date. Additionally, at trial, Appellant did not argue that he was unable to test the drugs. His only argument regarding prejudice was that in October 2011, he was told the drugs had been misplaced but at the time of the trial, he was told they were never misplaced. (R. p.36, lines 2-9; SROA. p.1, lines 5-7.)

State v. Mabe, 306 S.C. 355, 412 S.E.2d 386, is instructive in this situation. Initially, Mabe pled guilty to trafficking in cocaine, but he was granted post-conviction relief and received a trial. Mabe, 306 S.C. at 357, 412 S.E.2d at 387. Prior to the trial, he requested an independent analysis of the drugs under Rule 6(d), SCRCrimP. Id. at 357, 412 S.E.2d at 387-88. However, the sheriff's department had already destroyed the cocaine according to its routine procedures. Id. at 357, 412 S.E.2d at 388. Mabe moved to suppress the SLED report of the analysis of the cocaine, and the trial judge granted his motion. Id. The State appealed, and the Supreme Court reversed the trial court's decision. The Court stated:

When a chemist or analyst signs a report of chemical analysis, he certifies that he properly tested the materials delivered to him under SLED procedures, that the procedures are legally reliable and that the material is or contains the substances stated. . . . Included in the opportunity to present a complete defense is a defendant's privilege to request and obtain material evidence from the state for testing. The question becomes whether the right to independent testing is absolute so that due process is violated when evidence is destroyed before a defendant has the opportunity to conduct an independent analysis.

The state does not possess an absolute duty to preserve potentially useful evidence which could be subjected to tests which might exonerate a defendant. A defendant must demonstrate either that the state destroyed evidence in bad faith, or that the state destroyed evidence that possessed an exculpatory value that is apparent before the evidence was destroyed and the defendant cannot obtain other evidence of comparable value by other means.

Id. at 358-59, 412 S.E.2d at 388. The Court noted the cocaine had no apparent exculpatory value but pointed out that Mabe could "attack the accuracy of the chemical analyst's methodology and equipment, or introduce any other evidence which might contradict the report of chemical analysis." Id. at 359, 412 S.E.2d at 389.

Here the drugs were not deliberately destroyed in accordance with procedure, but the change in form of the evidence (due to lack of air conditioning) was not the result of bad faith. Similarly to Mabe, the drugs had already been tested and memorialized in the chemist's report. Thus, just as in Mabe, they had no exculpatory value. In this case, there is the added fact that Appellant never attempted to have the drugs tested before the first time the trial was to be called. Although the circumstances between Mabe and this case are quite different, the underlying issue of destruction of evidence after testing does apply here. Like in Mabe, Appellant was able to attack the chemist's report in other ways, such as methodology and equipment. Indeed, he asked her on cross-examination

about the very small sample she tested and the fact that she did not test for adulterants.
(R. p.124, line 2-R. p.126, line 7; R. p.127, lines 4-20.)

In sum, the trial court properly admitted both the drugs and the chemist's report into evidence. The fact the drugs melted after being tested by the chemist, the results of which were memorialized in a written report, does not affect the admissibility of the evidence. Accordingly, the trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion to suppress the drugs and overruling his objection to the chemist's report.

II.

The trial court properly admitted the drug scales and baggies into evidence because even though they were misplaced in the sheriff's department's storage room, no evidence was presented that they were ever out of the custody of the department and because they are non-fungible items, establishment of a strict chain of custody was not required.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in admitting the drug scales and baggies into evidence because there was no clear chain of custody due to the fact they were missing for two weeks. However, the trial court correctly admitted the evidence because there was no evidence the items ever left the evidence room, and the scales and baggies were non-fungible goods that could be identified whether they had been missing or not. Therefore, the trial court's ruling was proper and should be affirmed.

“While the chain of custody requirement is strict where fungible evidence is involved, where the issue is the admissibility of non-fungible evidence—that is, evidence that is unique and identifiable—the establishment of a strict chain of custody is not required[.]” State v. Glenn, 328 S.C. 300, 305, 492 S.E.2d 393, 395 (Ct. App. 1997). “If the offered item possesses characteristics which are fairly unique and readily identifiable, and if the substance of which the item is composed is relatively impervious to change, the trial court is viewed as having broad discretion to admit merely on the basis of testimony that the item is the one in question and is in a substantially unchanged condition.” Id. at 305-06, 492 S.E.2d at 395 (citations omitted).

First, no testimony was presented that the scales and baggies were ever out of the evidence storage warehouse. Kyzer testified she received a set of baggies and scales on February 17, 2011. (R. p.91, lines 8-16.) She signed them in and placed them in a banker box for miscellaneous items in a separate storage room than where the drugs are

stored. (R. p.91, line 8-R. p.92, line 5.) Kirkland signed them out on September 6, 2011, for approximately two hours, after which Kyzer placed the items back into the box. (R. p.92, lines 9-25.) In October of 2011, Kyzer received a call to pull all items in the case and was unable to find the baggies and scales. (R. p.94, lines 9-18.) Deputy Joe Hart located the items a couple of weeks later. (R. p.94, line 23-R. p.96, line 3.) Kyzer testified that the items were within the custody of the Lexington County evidence room the whole time. (R. p.96, lines 16-24; SROA. p.5, lines 5-10.) She identified the baggies and scales, which were stapled together, in court. (R. p.93, lines 1-24.)

Second, even if the items were missing, the trial court properly admitted them within its broad discretion based on the testimony that they were the items in question. Glenn, 328 S.C. at 305, 492 S.E.2d at 395. The trial court correctly pointed out that they are non-fungible items and, thus, are not required to have a strict chain of custody. The fact that the items were identified in court as being the same resolves any issue that they may have been changed or tampered with in any way. The trial court was correct in its analysis of how non-fungible items can easily be identified at any time and, thus, are treated differently from fungible items when it comes to chain of custody. Appellant admitted he agreed that fungible and non-fungible items have different rules; his only argument was that the scales and baggies were not identifiable because they did not have serial numbers. However, as long as the item is unique and identifiable, there is no requirement that it have a serial number. See State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 603 S.E.2d 910 (Ct. App. 2004) (finding a purse was a non-fungible piece of evidence and chain of custody was not required for its admission); State v. Glenn, 328 S.C. 300, 492 S.E.2d 393 (Ct. App. 1997) (finding a porcelain fragment was unique and readily identifiable and, thus, fell under the rule for non-fungible evidence); State v. Foster, 260 S.C. 511, 197

S.E.2d 280 (1973) (affirming the admission of tools that were identified by police through markings and were properly connected to the defendants and the crime); State v. Wells, 336 S.C. 223, 230, 426 S.E.2d 814, 817 (Ct. App. 1992) overruled on other grounds by Burgess v. State, 329 S.C. 88, 495 S.E.2d 445 (1998) (affirming the admission of clothes seized from the defendant's home that were allegedly worn during the crime, even though the officer who seized the clothes could not testify about the handling of the clothes in the evidence room.).

Because the scales and baggies were non-fungible, easily identifiable items that were in fact identified at trial by the evidence custodian, the trial court properly admitted them into evidence despite the fact evidence was provided that they were misplaced for approximately two weeks in the evidence warehouse. Its decision was within its broad discretion and should be affirmed.